# The Relationship Between Electrodermal Activity, Pulse Rate Variability, and Positive vs. Negative Emotions in Young Adults: An Experience Sampling Method Study

Leonie Döhrmann s2682818

M12 BSc Thesis PSY 202000384

Health Psychology & Technology

Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences, University of Twente

First Supervisor: Dr. Jorge Piano Simoes

Second Supervisor: Dr. Annemarie Braakman-Jansen

27.06.2024

#### Abstract

**Background:** Previous studies found associations of Electrodermal Activity (EDA) and Pulse Rate Variability (PRV) with negative emotions were limited by of being conducted in laboratory settings and primarily between-participants.

**Aim:** This study explored whether the digital biomarkers EDA and PRV had betweenand within-person associations with positive and negative emotions in young adults, in a realtime longitudinal framework.

**Methods:** The study used the experience sampling method (ESM). Thirty-four young adults completed a daily questionnaire in m-Path to self-report positive and negative emotions and wore an EmbracePlus smartwatch measuring EDA and PRV over 8 measurement days. Person-centred mean analysis combined with multilevel models was used.

**Results:** Significant negative between-person associations were found between EDA (p < .001) and PRV (p = .002) with positive emotions, while significant (p < .001) positive between-person associations of EDA with negative emotions were found. Conversely, PRV had no significant positive between-person associations with negative emotions. No significant within-subject associations between EDA and PRV with positive and negative emotions were found.

**Conclusion:** Neither EDA nor PRV, while fluctuating daily, significantly affect within-person levels of positive and negative emotions. Significant between-person associations of EDA and PRV suggest that overall averages, rather than daily fluctuations, may be more relevant for assessing emotion valence. The findings can be used to design EDA-based mental health interventions for young adults. This study, one of the first to demonstrate significant associations between emotions and digital biomarkers using ESM, highlights the need for further exploration of real-time ecological emotion monitoring methods to improve interventions for young adults.

**Keywords**: Positive / Negative Emotions, Electrodermal Activity, Pulse Rate Variability, Young Adults, Experience Sampling Method

# **Table of Contents**

Glossary	5
1.Introduction	6
Affect, Emotions and Physiological Responses	6
Relevance of EDA and PRV in Measuring Emotions	7
The Present Study	
Research Aim and Hypotheses	
2. Methods	
2.1 Study design	
2.2 Setting	
2.3 Participants	
2.4 Variables	
2.4.1 Covariates	
2.4.2 Electrodermal Activity: Skin Conductance Level	
2.4.3 Pulse Rate Variability	
2.4.4 Negative and Positive Emotions	14
2.5 Bias	14
2.6 Study Size	
2.7 Statistical Methods	
2.7.1 Multilevel Modelling	
2.7.2 Handling Missing Data	
3. Results	
3.1 Descriptive Statistics	
3.2 Visualisations of the Variables	
3.3.1 Positive Emotions	
3.3.2 Negative Emotions	
4. Discussion	
4.1 Implications of the Study	
4.2 Strengths and Limitations	
4.2.1 Strengths	
4.2.2 Limitations	
4.3 Recommendations	
4.4 Conclusion	
Appendices	
Appendix A	

Appendix B	
Appendix C	
Appendix D	

Acronym	Term	
ANS	Autonomic Nervous System	
CI	Confidence Interval	
EDA	Electrodermal Activity	
ESM	Experience Sampling Method	
HRV	Heart Rate Variability	
PPG	Photoplethysmography	
PRV	Pulse Rate Variability	
PNS	Parasympathetic Nervous System	
SE	Standard Error	
SNS	Sympathetic Nervous System	

Glossary

#### **1.Introduction**

Over the years, mental health issues increased significantly in young adults, with a 71% rise in major psychological distress outcomes from 2008 to 2017, a trend not found in older adults (Twenge et al., 2019). The COVID-19 pandemic further disproportionately worsened mental health conditions in young adults compared to other age groups (Foster et al., 2023). These findings highlight the necessity of research into this vulnerable demographic, which faces unique psychological challenges. Understanding the interplay between physiological reactions and emotions is important for addressing and intervening in these mental health challenges and has been a topic of interest for centuries. William James (1884) claimed that physiological reactions were not simple responses to emotional experiences but integral components of emotions. With advances in modern wearable technology, researchers can now monitor physiological and emotional indicators in real-time, a process known as personal sensing (Mohr et al., 2017; Motahari-Nezhad et al., 2022). Personal sensing involves the collection of ecological data from sensors embedded in everyday devices to identify human behaviour, emotions or traits (Mohr et al., 2017). Realtime sensing of the emotions of these individuals could be used to develop and inform targeted interventions for young adults and increase their well-being through a biopsychosocial model (Mohr et al., 2017).

#### Affect, Emotions and Physiological Responses

To understand physiological responses to emotions, the overarching concepts of affect, emotions, and their components must be understood. Affect is any experience of feeling or emotion, ranging from suffering to elation, from the most basic to the most intricate sensations of feeling (American Psychological Association [APA], 2018a). Affect consists of two dimensions: valence and arousal (Russell, 1980). Valence refers to how pleasant or unpleasant a stimulus is, e.g., positive excitement or negative anxiety (Berridge, 2019). Arousal refers to the intensity of affect, the level of physiological activation through the autonomic nervous system (ANS) or psychologically by e.g. feeling vigour, energy and tension (Niven & Miles, 2012). The arousal dimension can be measured through physiological sensors and used to infer the valence of an emotion. Both mood and emotion are affective states (APA, 2018a). For Rosenberg (1998), emotions and moods are distinct, while Pekrun (2009) describes moods as low-intensity emotions. Emotion describes a multifaceted response pattern that incorporates behavioural, physiological, and sensory components through which a person deals with personally important matters (APA, 2018b). Physiological arousal, subjective perceptions, and psychological appraisal all contribute to an individual's emotional state. These collectively are referred to as the components of emotion (Lacombe et al., 2022).

Emotions profoundly influence mental and physical health. Negative emotions can lead to states of high arousal that increase blood pressure, for example, when one is feeling stressed (Mucci et al., 2016; Wibawa et al., 2019). Given these significant consequences, identifying valid markers of positive and negative emotions is crucial, as it could pave the way for tailored interventions. Young adults have higher levels of physiological arousal when experiencing negative emotions, making them suitable for non-invasive interventions (Fernández-Aguilar et al., 2020). The non-invasiveness of monitoring ensures ecological validity and minimises participant burden, making it easier to gather accurate and consistent data on their emotions (Montanari, 2024). Young adults heightened emotional arousal can be measured by so-called digital biomarkers.

#### **Relevance of EDA and PRV in Measuring Emotions**

Digital biomarkers are behavioural and physiological data obtained via digital devices, such as wearables and implants (Motahari-Nezhad et al., 2022). They can improve diagnostic precision by remotely, non-invasively, and continuously measuring physiological data, enabling ongoing monitoring. Experimental studies, e.g., by Nagai et al. (2004), have shown that distinct physiological patterns may be linked to specific emotions, underscoring the potential of non-invasive devices to identify the onset of particular emotions. Mohr et al.'s (2017) *personal sensing* framework, links behaviours and digital biomarkers to mental health outcomes. If the findings of this study validate this framework of digital biomarkers as valid markers of emotions, it can lay the foundation for future work in personal sensing, potentially leading to diagnostic and intervention tools.

Physiological arousal of the ANS is a key component of emotion and was measured by EDA and PRV in this study. (Niven & Miles, 2012). As the only autonomic psychophysiological measure unaffected by parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) activity and because of its connection with cognition, emotions, and attention, EDA is the most useful index of sympathetic nervous system (SNS) arousal. It has been employed previously in various studies e.g. assessing implicit emotional reactions (Braithwaite et al., 2013). Furthermore, EDA has been used to detect negative emotional states through positive associations with, e.g., pain, stress, and sadness (Ganapathy et al., 2021). A systematic review found due to methodological differences an inconsistent relationship between EDA and positive emotions with moderate correlations (Horvers et al., 2021).

PRV is another relevant indicator of ANS activity (Sabour et al., 2019). PRV has been used to measure the PNS activity and the SNS activity since both nervous systems regulate the heart rate and blood pressure measured by PRV (de Geus & Goven, 2023). The majority of previous studies have focused not on PRV but heart rate variability (HRV) (Yuda, Yamamoto, et al., 2020). HRV is traditionally measured with an electrocardiogram placed on the chest and is highly accurate for ANS assessment, while PRV is measured by photoplethysmography (PPG) sensors which are feasible and convenient for wearable devices with high user acceptance (de Geus & Goven, 2023). The spread of wearable pulse wave sensors has led to the greater use of PRV to measure emotional arousal (Yuda, Yamamoto, et al., 2020). Yuda, Shibata, et al. (2020) proposed that PRV should be recognised as a distinct biomarker from HRV, showing promise as a new indicator of emotional arousal. Additionally, PRV was found to be more sensitive in measuring changes in blood pressure states than HRV (Mejía-Mejía et al., 2021). Blood pressure states are another indicator of negative emotions since anxiety and stress have been found to be related to hypertension, a condition characterised by high blood pressure in multiple studies (Mucci et al., 2016; Ostir et al., 2006). However, former studies of the related biomarker HRV found positive correlations of HRV and positive emotions, since also positive emotions such as excitement can lead to increased arousal and thus blood pressure (Ballesio et al., 2023). Meanwhile, Sabour et al. (2019) found that PRV has an approximate accuracy rate of 60% in experimental conditions of assessing emotions in young adults, but its effectiveness in naturalistic settings remains underexplored. In sum, EDA and PRV sensor data collected in real-life situations may offer new insights into the capacity of digital biomarkers to monitor emotions outside the laboratory.

## **The Present Study**

Several researchers have already examined the use of digital biomarkers in connection with emotion valence (Bodenstein et al., 2023; Feng et al., 2018). Some have also highlighted the importance of understanding and being able to monitor emotions in young adults in light of a significant increase in mental health issues, a phenomenon exacerbated by factors such as cultural shifts and the COVID-19 pandemic (Foster et al., 2023; Twenge et al., 2019). Digital biomarkers offer a promising avenue as proxies for positive or negative emotions because they allow for the continuous and non-invasive monitoring of physiological responses

(Motahari-Nezhad et al., 2022). For instance, EDA has proven effective as a measurement of implicit emotional reactions over several studies, while PRV has shown a high degree of accuracy in the prediction of emotions (Braithwaite et al., 2013; Sabour et al., 2019).

However, the previous studies have been limited in certain respects. The hypothesis that emotions and physiological responses are linked was based on intraindividual variability but has largely been studied using interindividual variability, rather than capturing longitudinal variations outside laboratory settings. (Institute of Medicine (US), 2004). Differences in body features and bodily reactions can affect results, thus studies measuring organ (e.g., heart or skin) responses to assess ANS activity have been more effective when focusing on changes within the same person rather than between people (de Geus & Gevonden, 2023). Previous studies, often conducted in controlled settings, did not capture daily fluctuations in emotions and physiological responses and had irregular survey intervals (Hernandez et al., 2016; Sabour et al., 2019). According to Stemmler and Wecker (2010), individual differences in physiological responses to emotions can vary over time within individuals and cannot be predicted from inter-subject research findings. Disentangling between-person and within-person effects is increasingly recognised as essential for understanding physiological and psychological processes since psychological theories often aim to understand processes occurring within individuals (Kraiss et al., 2022). Collecting longitudinal data, using the experience sampling method (ESM), is one way of realising such an aim.

The present study addresses these limitations of previous research by employing ESM and wearable technology to monitor between- and within-participants' emotional and physiological responses in a real-time, ecological, longitudinal framework. The ESM overcomes the limitations of traditional cross-sectional and lab-based studies by actively assessing participants' behaviour, emotions, and thoughts in daily life (Larson & Csikszentmihalyi, 1983). Unlike conventional methods (e.g., surveys and diaries), ESM requires participants to answer the same questions several times, reducing recall bias and increasing the ecological validity of the results (Hernandez et al., 2016). In the present study, a daily questionnaire was used to assess participants' positive and negative emotions over eight days. Advances in mobile technology (such as wearables) made this approach feasible because detailed contextual data like EDA and PRV can be measured and collated through onboard sensors (Van Berkel et al., 2017). By combining digital biomarkers and the ESM, data on emotional and physiological responses (and the associated fluctuations) can be gathered in naturalistic settings daily (Hernandez et al., 2016). In the present instance, inter-

and intra-individual variations were used to evaluate PRV as a proxy for assessing emotions, filling a gap in the literature.

#### **Research Aim and Hypotheses**

The study will explore whether EDA and PRV show between- and within-person associations with positive and negative emotions in young adults aged 18 to 27 years. The negative and positive emotions experienced by the participants were self-reported through a daily questionnaire via the platform m-Path (m-Path, 2024). The EDA and PRV biomarkers were measured using the medical-grade wearable EmbracePlus, equipped with EDA and PPG sensors, over eight days to ensure a week-long collection of physiological data. Most studies have focused on between-person associations, and to maintain comparability, this study also emphasises between-person associations. This led to the first research question: "How are fluctuations in EDA and PRV associated with positive and negative emotions among young adults?" Based primarily on studies in experimental contexts, it was hypothesised that EDA would be positively associated with negative emotions such as sadness, while PRV would be positively associated with negative emotions such as anxiety and stress (Hovers et al., 2021; Mejía-Mejía et al., 2021; Mucci et al., 2016).

Distinguishing between- and within-participant variability was also important because understanding the latter would provide deeper insights into individual processes and help validate the personal sensing framework and the intraindividual hypothesis of the link between emotions and physiological reactions (Institute of Medicine (US), 2004; Kraiss et al., 2022; Mohr et al., 2017). The current study follows this framework as deemed relevant, aiming to better understand individual physiological and psychological processes, leading to the second research question "Do EDA and PRV have significant within-person association with positive and negative emotions?".

#### 2. Methods

#### 2.1 Study design

This 8-day longitudinal study focused on the relationship between positive and negative emotions and EDA and PRV in young adults between the ages of 18 and 27. The measurement period length was based on the median duration of ESM studies (Yearick, 2017). The study collected physiological data using wearables for 7 days and self-reported data via m-Path for 8 days, encompassing an overall measurement period of eight days. Daily ESM-based questionnaires on participants' positive and negative emotions were sent via the m-Path platform (m-Path, 2024) while their physiological arousal, as evidenced by EDA and

PRV, was measured using the medical-grade wearable EmbracePlus (Empatica, 2024). The Ethics Committee of the University of Twente's Faculty of Behavioural Sciences approved this study (project 240133, obtained on 23/02/2024). This thesis was written according to STROBE guidelines to enhance transparency and replicability of its findings (Vandenbroucke et al., 2007).

#### 2.2 Setting

The data were collected between 18 March and 12 May, 2024 as part of a broader research project examining the physiological and emotional responses of young adults. The data were collected by three researchers in the context of conducting psychological studies for the bachelor thesis, the present study. The data collection started with an intake session where participants met with one of the researchers to review the study's design, procedures, and to set up the necessary mobile applications. Participants received a comprehensive manual of instructions (Appendix B) and were provided with an EmbracePlus wearable and charger. During the intake session, the researcher described the study's design and clarified the minimum duration for which the wearable device needed to be worn. Researchers assisted participants in downloading and setting up the m-Path and Care Lab mobile applications.

The m-Path app was used to obtain participants' informed consent and distribute the daily questionnaire form (Appendix A). Participants completed a one-time landing survey (Appendix C) to collect sociodemographic information. For 8 consecutive days, between 6:00 p.m. and 12:00 a.m., participants received a questionnaire probing their positive and negative emotions and other variables (Table 1). The questionnaire, which included each three items of positive and negative emotions, had to be completed between these designated time slots. Reminders were sent through the app every 2 hours and via personal messages from the researchers to ensure participants' adherence.

Following this, the researchers set up the EmbracePlus equipment such as the Care Lab app (Empatica, 2023). The integration of the EmbracePlus with the Care Lab app enabled real-time synchronisation of the collected data. Participants were instructed to install the "Care Lab" mobile application and to enable Bluetooth and have an internet connection as much as possible. The app facilitated data synchronisation and provided access to basic measurements such as heart rate and temperature. The researcher's ensured participants were familiar with the indicators that signified their devices were connected and that they were recording data. Participants wore an EmbracePlus, which passively sensed several digital biomarkers continuously, e.g. EDA and PRV. The digital biomarker data was firstly stored in the Care Lab Portal, and then moved and stored pseudo anonymously to the University of Twente server. Participants in the eight-day data collection period were required to wear the EmbracePlus continuously, except during showers and charging times. The data collection of EDA and PRV and the daily questionnaires took place in the daily life of the participants and was thus not bound to a fixed location. After the data were collected, participants returned the EmbracePlus to the researcher. No follow-up study was conducted.

## 2.3 Participants

The participants were recruited through snowball sampling within the circle of friends and family of the researchers. The inclusion criteria for the participants were being as follows: able to speak English, being within the age range 18- 30, and in possession of an Android 11 or more recent reversion or an iPhone to connect the wearable and fill out the questionnaires via m-Path. Furthermore, all participants had to be able and willing to wear the EmbracePlus most of the time.

## 2.4 Variables

#### 2.4.1 Covariates

The sensors of the EmbracePlus measured digital biomarkers such as physical activity, sleep detection, skin temperature, respiratory rate, and blood oxygen saturation (Empatica, 2023). Relevant for this study were EDA measured with a ventral EDA sensor and PRV with a PPG sensor.

#### 2.4.2 Electrodermal Activity: Skin Conductance Level

To measure and quantify EDA, a specific component has to be selected. The term EDA refers to electrical phenomena observable on the skin (Amin & Faghih, 2022). Sweat secretion caused by activation of the ANS causes variations in skin conductance as a measure of EDA. Skin conductance level as a measure of EDA is considered a 'time-tested metric'; it has been extensively validated and employed in tracking SNS activity for several decades (Braithwaite et al., 2013). Skin conductance level represents the total level of arousal, declining with physiologically relaxing activities like rest and sleep (Malmo, 1959). A shift in the body's psychophysiological and metabolic states occurs in reaction to emotional stimuli, allowing the body to deal with them, e.g., flight or fight response (Amin & Faghih, 2022). The ANS may activate sweat glands, thereby increasing skin conductance. Researchers can investigate how emotional arousal-associated ANS activation fluctuates by analysing skin conductance. Skin conductance responses, which reflect peripheral bodily signals associated with emotions, have been used to further investigate the emotional experiences and mental health (Christopoulos et al., 2019).

To measure the data of the digital biomarkers EDA and PRV, the EmbracePlus wearable by Empatica was utilised (Empatica, 2023). The EmbracePlus devices were provided to the researchers by the BMS Lab of the University of Twente (BMS Lab, 2024). The EmbracePlus contains several sensors such as the Ventral EDA sensor, which detects changes in electrical conductance on the skin. The EDA sensor provides high-precision data, ensuring the reliability and validity of the measurements according to the company Empatica (2023), however in literature the EDA sensor has only been validated in the previous wearable model the E4 (Borrego et al., 2019). The EmbracePlus and the Care Lab app in combination allowed for continuous real-time monitoring of physiological biomarkers. Through the Care Lab application, the researchers were able to check the adherence of the participants to the study and check if the data synchronisation worked for every participant.

#### 2.4.3 Pulse Rate Variability

Objective physiological data regarding participants' ANS activity were continuously gathered using the EmbracePlus smartwatch, which contains an advanced PPG sensor to measure PRV (Empatica, 2023). A PPG sensor uses a non-invasive signal that transmits light through the skin and measures the reflection of the light from the capillaries to evaluate physiological information (Mao et al., 2021). Thus, PPG sensors capture the pulse waves generated by heart contractions and their transit through the arteries (Wibawa et al., 2019). Due to its sensitivity to variations in blood pressure and autonomic neural activity, PRV was used in the present study (Mejía-Mejía et al., 2021; Yuda, Shibata, et al., 2020). As the pulse wave travels through the arteries, its timing can be affected by factors such as respiration and autonomic nervous activity. Thus, PRV reflects changes in the time intervals between pulse waves, influenced by both the SNS and PNS (de Geus & Goven, 2023). This makes PRV a useful measure for monitoring physiological responses to emotions. The PRV measurements reflect the shorter pulse transit times resulting from higher blood pressure and by extension, the cardiovascular response to stress and other emotional stimuli (Mejía-Mejía et al., 2021).

A PPG sensor is not as reliable as an electrocardiogram sensor (ECG) measuring HRV, though it can be integrated into wearables (de Geus & Gevonden, 2023). Using a PPG sensor in a wearable offers convenience, feasibility, and increased user acceptance for continuous monitoring but with potentially more variability due to external influences (de Geus & Gevonden, 2023). Unfortunately, PPG sensors in wearables are very sensitive to motion, resulting in missing data (Mao et al., 2021).

## 2.4.4 Negative and Positive Emotions

Daily questionnaires via the m-Path platform assessed participants' positive and negative emotions, providing subjective assessments of affective experiences. The self-reported measures of positive and negative emotions consisted of six items (Table 1), based on the PERMA Profiler's Positive and Negative Emotions items (Butler & Kern, 2016). The phrase "How often" in the original items was removed, the items were changed to the first person, and the word "today" was added (Table 1). The items were reformulated to fit the format of a daily questionnaire; the original PERMA questionnaire was designed to ask participants about the previous 2 weeks. To minimise workload and allow participants to complete the questionnaire in a few minutes, only a set number of questions were included (Hasselhorn et al., 2021). The participants rated the items on a scale from 0 (*not at all*) to 10 (*completely*) on the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) via the m-Path app. Three items each assessed positive and negative emotions, and the responses were then averaged (Table 1).

The responses to the daily questionnaires were captured by the m-Path app, which was developed for use in psychological research by KU Leuven (m-Path, 2024). It allows researchers to collect real-time data on participants' emotions in their natural environment, ensuring ecological validity. Participants used their smartphones to respond to the daily questionnaire via the m-Path app, simplifying the process.

# Table 1

Construct	Emotion	Formulation Presented to Participant
Positive Emotions	Joy	I felt joyful today
	Positive Attitude	I felt positive today
	Contentedness	I felt content today
Negative Emotions	Anger	I felt angry today
	Anxiety	I felt anxious today
	Sadness	I felt sad today

Altered Items Based on the PERMA Questionnaire

#### 2.5 Bias

To limit response variability and poor adherence, participants received explicit instructions on data collection via the manual and during the meeting with researchers (Appendix B). Additionally, the participants received messages from the researchers reminding them to adhere to the study. Participants who adhered to the protocol, wearing the smartwatch for > 80% of the time and completing > 80% of the daily questionnaires, were entered in a raffle for a 50€ Amazon gift card. Participants recruited through SONA received 2.5 SONA points for their participation.

#### 2.6 Study Size

Forty-two participants were contacted by the researchers. Five declined because they were not interested in the subject of the study and two others were unavailable during the allotted timeframe, which left 35 participants. Another participant was recruited through the SONA system for students at the University of Twente. Two participants dropped out during the study, leaving a final number of 34. Participants had to wear the EmbracePlus and complete the daily questionnaires at least 50% of the time to be in line with common ESM practice and thus be included in the final sample (Conner & Lehman, 2012). Figure 1 provides an overview of the recruitment process.

# Figure 1



Flowchart of the Recruitment Process

## **2.7 Statistical Methods**

# 2.7.1 Multilevel Modelling

First, the m-Path data were downloaded into Excel from the researchers' m-Path website (https://m-path.io/). The EmbracePlus data were downloaded via an access key from

the Care Lab portal (Empatica, 2023). Both sets of data were then uploaded to a university OneDrive server with pseudonymised IDs. To conduct the statistical analysis, RStudio-2023.12.1-403 was used. The raw physiological EDA and PRV data were processed hourly. EmbracePlus has a one-minute sampling rate, and to better capture fluctuations over the day and avoid overfitting of the models, EDA and PRV was resampled to hourly measurements. The hourly data for each participant were derived by summarising mean or count values for each hour. Additionally, each participant's Excel file with the necessary column names was read from m-Path, and the data were combined into a single data frame. After being properly parsed into a date-time format, the timestamp field was adjusted to the closest hour. The final dataset, after cleaning and merging, contained hourly measures of physiological and selfreported negative and positive emotion items for each participant. The adherence rate for each participant were calculated to remove participants with an adherence rate below 50% on both measures. Afterwards, the items for positive emotions (Joy, Positive Attitude, Contentedness) and negative emotions (Anger, Anxiety, Sadness) were combined, and the means for each of these three items were used per day.

Person-centred mean multilevel models are widely employed to disaggregate betweenand within-person relations (Dao et al., 2021). The person- and person-centred means for EDA and PRV were examined using linear mixed-effects models. The person-centred mean is calculated by subtracting the overall mean of the variable from each individual's mean of the variable (Kraiss et al., 2022). The person means for EDA and PRV represented the betweenparticipant effects, while the centred person means were used to examine the within-person effects. Multilevel models enable accounting for the structure of the data (observations nested within days within person) and have been widely used in ESM (Curran & Bauer, 2011; Kraiss et al., 2022).

The coefficient of fixed-effects, standard error (*SE*), confidence interval (CI), *p* values and standardized beta were calculated and reported. Standard error quantifies how accurately a sample can depict a population (Lee & Cerin, 2023). Confidence intervals are computed by the standard error and provide a potential range of values for a population. Standardised beta ( $\beta$ ) is a standardised version of the raw beta coefficient, meaning that the variables have been rescaled to have a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1 (Bring, 1994). This allowed the comparison of the effects of the variables EDA and PRV which are measured in different units. The *p* values below the threshold of 0.05 are statistically significant, so the null hypothesis can be rejected (DiLeo & Sardanelli, 2020).

## 2.7.2 Handling Missing Data

Missing data were systematically addressed to ensure the integrity of the dataset. Firstly, any *NaN* (Not a Number) entries were removed in cases when both EDA and PRV measurements were absent at the beginning or ending of participant measurement since these missing values are likely due to the starting and the ending of the measurement. To manage missing questionnaire data, the last observation carried forward (LOCF) approach was applied to the m-Path item data (Overall et al., 2009). This procedure involves inserting missing values for each participant for every hour; the missing values are replaced by the last observed value of that variable for each individual regardless of when it occurred. The missing values were completed upwards of every hour to minimise the temporal bias in reporting emotional states and maximise the use of available data, which is necessary for a longitudinal study design (Ji et al., 2018).

#### 3. Results

## **3.1 Descriptive Statistics**

The final sample consisted of 34 participants. Half of the participants were male (n = 17) and the other half female. The average age was 21.45 years (SD = 2.05, range = 18-27). Most participants (94.1 %, n = 32) were German, with one participant reporting as Dutch and another participant reporting as Vietnamese. Half of the participants reported being a full-time student (n = 17), 12 working students (35.3%) and 5 working (14.7%). Table 2 displays the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants.

## Table 2

Baseline characteristic	Par	ticipants
	n	%
Gender		
Female	17	50.0
Male	17	50.0
Age		
Mean (SD)	21.45	
	(2.05)	
Occupation		
Student	17	50.0
Student & Working	12	35.3
Working	5	14.7
Nationality		
German	32	94.1
Dutch	1	2.9
Vietnamese	1	2.9

Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants

The overall adherence rate was 90.47%, with the m-Path adherence rate at 93.06% and the (smart)watch-wearing adherence at 87.88% (Appendix D).

#### 3.2 Visualisations of the Variables

This section displays the mean values and standard errors for each variable across the 34 participants. For the physiological measures EDA and PRV, the measures are presented with their mean values across the 24 hours of the day (Figures 2 and 3). The m-Path graph in Figure 4 shows the fluctuations in positive and negative emotions throughout the 8 days.

Figure 2 presents the mean and *SE* of PRV for each hour across the 34 participants. The participants with larger ribbon areas are likely to have had greater variability in their hourly PRV measurements. The particular patterns in each participant's PRV data suggest significant individual differences in physiological responses influenced by factors such as time of day, daily activities, and personal physiological characteristics. Some participants showed noticeable spikes in PRV values at specific times, e.g., higher PRV values in the afternoon, while others exhibited more stable values with fewer fluctuations. At the same time, the plot reveals missing values, particularly in the afternoon, likely due to excessive motion affecting the PPG sensor. In particular, participants 17 and 11 had very few PRV measurements leading to fewer observations being available for the analysis.

# Figure 2

# Hourly PRV Data per Participant

PRV Data Across 34 Participants



*Note.* hourly\_mean\_prv (red line) represents the mean value of the hourly PRV for each day. The x-axis (Hour) represents the hours of the day (from 0 to 24). The y-axis represents the mean value of the PRV for each hour. Each small plot corresponds to an individual participant, identified by a pseudonymised number at the top of each plot. PRV can only be calculated in the absence of movement; explains the gaps in the graph (section 2.4.2). The middle line represents the mean, the ribbon around it indicates the *SE*.

Figure 3 presents the hourly EDA data for the mean and *SE* for each participant. The ribbon around the middle line, representing the *SE* varied widely, some participants showed

almost no ribbon, indicating little variability, while others had large ribbon areas, indicating more variability. Other participants generally displayed low EDA patterns with low arousal levels, whereas other participants showed high levels of activity. Some participants had mean EDA spikes in the evening indicating high arousal activities in the evening, while others showed multiple smaller spikes throughout the day showing relatively stable arousal levels throughout the day. This suggests regular routines or activities could be affecting their EDA values. Participants 10, 14, and 40 showed almost no EDA measurement values or very low ones, suggesting potential measurement bias or stable emotions resulting in minimal fluctuations.

## Figure 3



#### Hourly EDA Data per Participant

*Note.* The variable hourly\_mean\_eda stands for the mean of EDA on the hour; the x-axis represents the hours of the day (from 0 to 24). The y-axis represents the mean values of the EDA for each hour. Each small plot corresponds to an individual participant, identified by a pseudonymised number at the top of each plot. The middle line represents the mean, the ribbon around it indicates the *SE*.

In figure 4, the means and *SEs* of the variable's positive emotions and negative emotions for all 34 participants are displayed. The *y*-axis mean values ranged from 0 to 10. On the *x*-axis the day is indicated, showing the fluctuating levels of positive and negative emotions over the study's duration. There were clear differences between participants. Some participants showed stability in their emotional states with minimal fluctuations and reported higher positive emotion values (means of 6 or higher) and lower negative emotion values (means of 3 or lower). Participants whose emotions fluctuated largely often experienced more negative and less positive emotions compared to those with stable emotional states. Furthermore, these participants exhibited more variability, with different levels of positive and negative emotions each day. Overall, the data illustrate the different emotional experiences of participants, with some showing consistent emotional states and others showing significant daily variations. This highlights the importance of considering individual differences and assessing within-participant variability, when examining the relationship between physiological indicators and emotions.

### Figure 4



## M-Path Data of the 34 Participants With Mean and SD

*Note.* N\_mean = mean value of the negative emotion items (Anger, Anxiety, Sadness) for each day; P\_mean = mean value of the positive emotion's items (Joy, Positive Attitude, Contentedness) for each day. The middle line represents the mean, the ribbon around it indicates the *SE*. Each participant has a pseudonymised number at the top.

#### 3.3 Multilevel Modelling with Person-Mean Centring

To address the first research question regarding how PRV and EDA are associated with positive and negative emotions and the second research question whether PRV and EDA have within-person associations with positive and negative emotions, a multilevel model with person-centred mean was used to distinguish between and within-participants. Two models were calculated to predict the two response variables positive and negative emotions.

#### 3.3.1 Positive Emotions

Table 3 provides an overview of the model for positive emotions. The average level of positive emotions when all predictors are at their mean values was 7.08, which is statistically significant (SE = 0.20, CI [6.68–7.47], p < .001). When considering the  $\beta$  value 0.01 of the intercept, the intercept had a relatively weak effect on positive emotions. The EDA person mean value, representing the between-person effect of EDA had an estimate of -0.12 and p value of less than 0.001 and was therefore significant (SE = 0.02; CI [[-0.16–-0.08]). Although it was not hypothesised before, EDA had significant negative between-person association on positive emotions. The PRV person mean, the between-person effect for PRV, had a small negative effect size with an estimate of -0.00. This was significant, SE = 0.00; CI [-0.00–-0.00]; p = .002. Thus, PRV had a significant negative between-person association with positive emotions, which was not hypothesised, thus further significant relationships were also found. In summary, PRV and EDA had both non-significant megative between-person associations with positive emotions, and EDA and PRV had both significant negative between-person relationships with positive emotions.

## Table 3

Person-Centred Mean and Multilevel Model for Between- and Within-Participant Relationships Between EDA, PRV, and Positive Emotions

				Positiv	e Emotions		
Predictors	Estimates	SE	$\beta$ Stand	ardised erroi	CI	Standardised CI	р
(Intercept)	7.08	0.20	0.01	0.11	6.68 - 7.47	-0.20 - 0.22	<0.001
EDA (Person Mean)	-0.12	0.02	-0.12	0.02	-0.160.08	-0.150.08	<0.001
EDA (Person Mean Centred)	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	-0.00 - 0.02	-0.00 - 0.02	0.063
PRV (Person Mean)	-0.00	0.00	-0.06	0.02	-0.000.00	-0.090.02	0.002
PRV (Person Mean Centred)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.00 - 0.00	-0.00 - 0.01	0.476

*Note.* There were 3,109 observations. EDA (Person Mean) = EDA mean of person; EDA (Person Mean Centred) = the mean-centred EDA of the person; PRV (Person Mean) = PRV mean of person; PRV (Person Mean Centred) = the mean-centred PRV of the person.

## 3.3.2 Negative Emotions

Table 4 provides an overview of the model for negative emotions. The intercept coefficient of 2.40 was the negative emotion value when all other variables (e.g., EDA and PRV) were at their mean. The intercept was statistically significant (SE = 0.22; CI [1.96–2.84]; p < .001). In contrast with positive emotions, negative emotions had a rather low intercept value of 2.40, while positive emotions had an intercept value of 7.12 (Table 3). The EDA person mean had a coefficient of 0.10 and was statistically significant (SE = 0.02; CI [0.06–0.15], p < .001). Thus, in line with the hypothesis, EDA had a significant positive between-person association with negative emotions. The EDA person mean-centred value, showing the within-participant value, was not statistically significant. Contrary to the hypothesis, PRV showed no evidence for a significant positive between-person association

with negative emotions. Thus, no evidence for the second research question was found that EDA and PRV have within-person associations with positive and negative emotions.

## Table 4

Person-Centred Mean and Multilevel Model for Between- and Within-Participant Relationships Between PRV and EDA and Negative Emotions

				Negativ	e Emotions		
Predictors	Estimates	SE	β	Standardised error	CI	Standardised CI	p
(Intercept)	2.40	0.22	-0.02	0.10	1.96 - 2.84	-0.23 - 0.18	<0.001
EDA (Person Mean)	0.10	0.02	0.09	0.02	0.06 - 0.15	0.05 - 0.12	<0.001
EDA (Person Mean Centred)	-0.00	0.01	-0.00	0.01	-0.02 - 0.01	-0.01 - 0.01	0.422
PRV (Person Mean)	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.02	-0.00 - 0.00	-0.02 - 0.05	0.420
PRV (Person Mean Centred)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.00 - 0.00	-0.01 - 0.01	0.851

*Note.* There were 3,109 observations. EDA (Person Mean) = EDA mean of person; EDA (Person Mean Centred) = the mean-centred EDA of the person; PRV (Person Mean) = PRV mean of person; PRV (Person Mean Centred) = the mean-centred PRV of the person.

#### 4. Discussion

In this study, EDA and PRV were used to examine the association between physiological arousal with positive and negative emotions in young adults. The first research question, how EDA and PRV are associated with positive and negative emotions among young adults, was answered with the confirmation of one of the two hypotheses. Aligning with the hypothesis, a significant positive between-person association of EDA and negative emotions was found. Contrary to the hypothesis, PRV was not significantly positively between-person associated with negative emotions. Additionally, significant negative between-person associations of EDA and PRV on positive emotions were found. However, significant within-person associations between EDA and PRV on positive and negative emotions were not found, providing no evidence for the second research question, that fluctuations in EDA and PRV were significantly associated with within-participant negative and positive emotions.

The results align with findings from previous studies indicating that EDA is a reliable indicator of physiological arousal (Braithwaite et al., 2013). EDA's ability to only measure SNS activity and be unaffected by PNS activity makes EDA a direct and consistent measure of arousal indicating negative emotions (Braithwaite et al., 2013). The results supported the significant negative between-person relationship between EDA and negative emotions highlighted by Horvers et al. (2021), and the significant negative between-person relationship between EDA and negative are often associated with heightened stress or anxiety, which can detract from positive emotions and increase negative emotions (Ganapathy et al., 2021). Thus, participants with higher average EDA levels reported fewer positive emotions and more negative emotions.

Moreover, there were no significant within-person associations between EDA and positive and negative emotions. The complexity and rapid changes in emotional states can result in fluctuations in EDA readings that do not align precisely with the emotions reported in the evening (Aldao, 2013). Therefore, while EDA may indicate overall arousal levels, it cannot be used to precisely identify emotions experienced at particular times.

The relationship between PRV and emotions was less consistent. The small but significant negative between-person relationship between PRV and positive emotions suggests that participants with higher average PRV were more prone to experience slightly fewer positive emotions. However, Zhou et al. (2023) found PRV to have positive associations with positive emotions such as amusement and furthermore able to detect amusement and sadness, a negative emotion. The common denominator between these emotions was their high arousal levels. The negative association with positive emotions may have been because PRV is sensitive to physiological stress and blood pressure changes (Mejía-Mejía et al., 2021). Higher PRV might indicate a more reactive or stressed physiological state, such as hypertension, which can detract from an individual experiencing positive emotions (Mucci et al., 2016).

The lack of a significant relationship between PRV and negative emotions suggests PRV might not be as reliable in detecting negative emotions as EDA. PRV is influenced by both the SNS and PNS, which independently affect heart rate and blood pressure (de Geus & Gevonden, 2023). The PNS, responsible for rest and digestion, slows heart rate and lowers blood pressure, while the SNS, responsible for fight or flight, increases them. Both can independently activate and influence PRV. Since both systems influence PRV simultaneously, it can reflect a mix of stress and relaxation signals, making it less precise in indicating clear positive or negative emotion. EDA's specificity to the SNS means it directly measures physiological arousal associated with stress and anxiety, clearly indicating negative emotions in moments of high arousal measurement. Additionally, this contention is reinforced by the fact that PRV is highly sensitive to movement (Mao et al., 2021). Sahroni et al. (2022), who used stable PPG sensors in a setting where movement was minimised, found a significant between-person association between PRV and negative emotions.

The present study showed no significant within-person relationship between PRV and positive and negative emotions. In contrast, Jang et al. (2019) concluded that skin conductance level (measure of EDA), heart rate, and blood volume pulse (measured by PRV) were reliable within-participant physiological indices of emotions. Their findings supported the intraindividual hypothesis that physiological reactions to emotions are participant-specific (Institute of Medicine [US], 2004). However, Jang et al.'s (2019) study involved the presentation of emotion-provoking films in a controlled setting and measuring with an electrocardiogram. In contrast, the current study's naturalistic setting introduced more noise and used more feasible but less accurate wearable sensors such as the PPG sensor of PRV to increase user acceptance (de Geus & Goven, 2023). This impacted the detection of these associations. Thus, significant evidence could not be found for the second research question of within-person associations and, therefore no support for the longstanding intraindividual hypothesis (Institute of Medicine (US), 2004).

In summary, the results seem to confirm EDA as a reliable indicator of emotional arousal, particularly for identifying negative or positive emotions at the between-participant level through arousal averages. While physiological measures such as EDA and PRV showed consistent daily arousal fluctuations within participants, these fluctuations were not significantly associated with the levels of positive and negative emotions in individual participants. This contrasts with the between-person results where significant associations were found, indicating that overall averages rather than daily fluctuations of measured arousal may be more relevant for understanding positive and negative emotions. Meanwhile, although, PRV provides valuable insights into the autonomic regulation of emotions, it is not a precise standalone measure for assessing negative emotions of individuals, e.g., because of its sensitivity to movement.

## 4.1 Implications of the Study

The findings indicate that digital biomarkers should still complement self-reported emotions, as they cannot yet fully replace subjective measures due to their unreliability in assessing within-person variability. EDA sensors should be used in everyday wearables to assess the arousal levels of young adults in their daily lives, and to compare them to other users, as increased average EDA may suggest a tendency to experience negative emotions (Stifter & Augustine, 2019). Developing ecological emotion regulation and monitoring programmes for young adults require methods that mitigate recall bias, prioritise noninvasiveness, and offer practical applications such as digital biomarkers (Beames et al., 2021; Stifler & Augustine, 2019). So-called ecological momentary interventions could offer immediate support based on increased EDA readings over several hours, prompting clients to do breathing or movement exercises to regulate the ANS and thereby the positive and negative emotions (Balaskas, et al., 2021). These interventions could enhance emotional awareness among young adults, leading to favourable outcomes such as less stress, better emotion regulation, and fewer health risks (Yoon et al., 2018). If proven reliable, EDA could be used for clinical applications, such as real-time monitoring to support mental health interventions. Real-time monitoring could help therapists understand their clients' emotional patterns and triggers, allowing for more personalised and timely support (Tao et al., 2023). Additionally, researchers might use the present findings to develop more sophisticated ecological emotion monitoring methods to better support young clients in managing their emotional well-being.

#### 4.2 Strengths and Limitations

## 4.2.1 Strengths

This study has several strengths. First, the study has large ESM sample size of 34 participants with a high levels of questionnaire adherence and high wearable adherence (Table 2). Secondly, ESM, in the form of a daily questionnaire, minimised recall bias and researcher bias (Hernandez et al., 2016). The recording of real-time data in a daily life context not bound to an experimental design increased the generalisability of the results. Furthermore, the ESM longitudinal framework allowed for disaggregating between- and within-participants associations (Kraiss et al., 2022). Thirdly, the Embrace Plus wearable allowed for passive and unobtrusive recording of PRV and EDA, thus the device did not impact participants' daily activities (Motahari-Nezhad et al., 2022). Fourth, the present study is the first to investigate associations of EDA, PRV with positive and negative emotions by distinguishing the

between- and within-subject effects in the context of ESM. Furthermore, PRV is in its infancy in psychological research and has not found significant negative between-person associations with positive emotions in studies thus far.

#### 4.2.2 Limitations

However, it is important to consider several limitations when interpreting the study's findings. EmbracePlus's PRV measurements are of research and not medical grade (Empatica, 2023). The PPG sensor is sensitive to motion, leading to missing data as be seen in figure 2 (Mao et al., 2021). Because participants were physically active during the day, the reliability of the PRV measurements may be called into question (Figure 2). Next to that, the LOFC was used to fill in the missing values of the day for the variables positive and negative emotions since the participants only reported one time a day. The idea behind the method is that the emotions participants recollect at the end of the day match the emotions they would report throughout the day if asked multiple times (Cao & Fine, 2019). But participants might have reported the most intense emotion they remembered, while neglecting other emotions they experienced throughout the day due to only being asked once a day. Increasing sampling frequency might have increased accuracy, but it might also have increased participants' perceived burden and lessened adherence (Hasselhorn et al., 2021). Furthermore, this study used the Root of the Mean Squared of Successive Difference feature, the consecutive pulse-topulse time intervals, of the PRV measurement (Sabour et al., 2019). However, due to no standardised method for pre-processing data and multiple other features of PRV that can be computed, this can lead to reproducibility issues across studies (Föll et al., 2021). Additionally, no behavioural or contextual factors that might change EDA, PRV and positive and negative emotions were taken into account such as caffeine consumption (Schwerdtfeger & Gertreis, 2014). Finally, the sample consisted primarily of German university students with a personal connection to the researchers due to the nature of the sampling method. Thus, the generalisability to other age groups, cultural backgrounds, or populations with different occupations might be limited.

#### 4.3 Recommendations

More research is needed to obtain a fuller understanding of the extent of the relationship between the digital biomarkers EDA and PRV and positive and negative emotions. Future research might focus on validating the PERMA items to ensure their reliability and validity in the ESM context. As discussed before, participants' trajectories of emotion likely fluctuated throughout the day, possibly resulting in self-reports of only the

most intense ones. This would indicate that a study with multiple assessments throughout the day can be a better design to capture putative within-person variability. Research could examine the balance between the potential burden of asking participants about their emotions multiple times a day and the possible improvement in the accuracy and reliability of the data collected. Furthermore, researchers can work on improving wearable sensor technology to reduce noise and increase accuracy, especially for PRV, enhancing its reliability for real-world applications. Otherwise, advanced machine learning techniques should be researched which could help overcome the limitations of PPG sensors by detecting and correcting movement artifacts. Furthermore, these machine learning techniques could be used to extract the complex patterns of EDA and PRV to analyse them more in-depth, a technique already used for atrial fibrillation (Xie et al., 2024). New technologies should be used to make more accurate inferences concerning momentary changes and assess a greater range of physiological and emotional factors (Gross & Malzhacker, 2023). With the development of context sensors, event-contingent triggering could be used to assess specific emotional states and physiological reactions to specific events in daily life.

#### 4.4 Conclusion

The present study aimed to explore the between-person relationship of PRV and EDA with positive and negative emotions, finding clear support for the significant negative between-person associations of both EDA and PRV with positive emotions and a significant positive between-person association of EDA with negative emotions. For the second research question whether additionally within-person associations exist, no significant within-participant associations were found for EDA and PRV on positive and negative emotions, highlighting the importance of averages rather than daily fluctuations for understanding positive and negative emotions. The study successfully leveraged ESM and wearables to capture real-time data on physiological responses and positive and negative emotions over 8 measurement days in a naturalistic setting, addressing the limitations of previous studies through both the decomposition of between- and within-subject effects and the ESM approach. This study is one of the first to demonstrate significant associations between EDA, PRV, and positive and negative emotions using ESM, highlighting the need for further research into and development of real-time emotion monitoring methods to improve mental health interventions in young adults.

#### References

- Aldao, A. (2013). The future of emotion regulation research: Capturing context. *Perspectives* on *Psychological Science*, 8(2), 155-172.
- Amin, R., & Faghih, R. T. (2022). Physiological characterization of electrodermal activity enables scalable near real-time autonomic nervous system activation inference. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 18(7), e1010275.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1010275

- American Psychological Association. (2018a). *APA dictionary of psychology*. <u>https://</u> <u>dictionary.apa.org/affect</u>
- American Psychological Association. (2018b). *APA dictionary of psychology*. <u>https://</u> <u>dictionary.apa.org/emotion</u>
- Balaskas, A., Schueller, S. M., Cox, A. L., & Doherty, G. (2021). Ecological momentary interventions for mental health: A scoping review. *PLOS ONE*, 16(3), e0248152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248152</u>
- Ballesio, A., Zagaria, A., Salaris, A., Terrasi, M., Lombardo, C., & Ottaviani, C. (2023).
  Sleep and Daily Positive Emotions Is Heart Rate Variability a Mediator?. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, *37*(3), 134-142. https://doi.org/10.1027/0269-8803/a000315
- Bauhoff, S. (2014). Self-report bias in estimating cross-sectional and treatment effects. In
  A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of quality of life and well-being research*.
  Springer (pp. 5798–5800). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5\_4046
- Beames, J. R., Kikas, K., & Werner-Seidler, A. (2021). Prevention and early intervention of depression in young people: An integrated narrative review of affective awareness and Ecological Momentary Assessment. *BMC Psychology*, 9(1), 113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-021-00614-6</u>
- Berridge, K. C. (2019). Affective valence in the brain: modules or modes?. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 20(4), 225-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0122-8</u>
- BMS Lab. (2024). Retrieved April 1, 2024, from https://www.utwente.nl/en/bmslab/
- Bodenstein, K. C., Paquin, V., Sekhon, K., Lesage, M., Cinalioglu, K., Rej, S., Vahia, I., & Sekhon, H. (2023). Digital markers of mental health problems: Phenotyping across biological, psychological, and environmental dimensions. In A. L. Teixeira, N. P. Rocha, & M. Berk (Eds.), *Biomarkers in Neuropsychiatry* (pp. 105–122). Springer. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-43356-6\_7">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-43356-6\_7</a>

- Borrego, A., Latorre, J., Alcaniz, M., & Llorens, R. (2019). Reliability of the Empatica E4 wristband to measure electrodermal activity to emotional stimuli. *IEEE*. https://doi.org/10.1109/icvr46560.2019.8994546
- Braithwaite, J. J., Watson, D. G., Jones, R., & Rowe, M. (2013). A guide for analysing electrodermal activity (EDA) & skin conductance responses (SCRs) for psychological experiments. *Psychophysiology*, 49(1), 1017–1034.
- Bring, J. (1994). How to standardize regression coefficients. *The American Statistician*, 48(3), 209–213.. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2684719</u>
- Butler, J., & Kern, M. L. (2016). The PERMA-Profiler: A brief multidimensional measure of flourishing. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 6(3). 1-48.
- Cao, H., & Fine, J. P. (2019). On the proportional hazards model with last observation carried forward covariates. *Annals of the Institute of Statistical Mathematics*, 73(1), 115-134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10463-019-00739-x</u>
- Christopoulos, G. I., Uy, M. A., & Yap, W. J. (2019). The body and the brain: Measuring skin conductance responses to understand the emotional experience. *Organizational Research Methods*, 22(1), 394-420.
- Conner, T. S., & Lehman, B. J. (2012). Getting started: Launching a study in daily life. In M.
  R. Mehl & T. S. Conner (Eds.), *Handbook of research methods for studying daily life* (pp. 89–107). Guilford Press.
- Critchley H. D., Elliott R., Mathias C. J., Dolan R. J. (2000). Neural activity relating to generation and representation of galvanic skin conductance responses: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *20*(8), 3033–3040
- Curran, P. J., & Bauer, D. J. (2011). The Disaggregation of Within-Person and Between-Person Effects in Longitudinal Models of Change. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62(1), 583-619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100356</u>
- Dao, K. P., De Cocker, K., Tong, H. L., Kocaballi, A. B., Chow, C., & Laranjo, L. (2021).
   Smartphone-delivered ecological momentary interventions based on ecological momentary assessments to promote health behaviors: systematic review and adapted checklist for reporting ecological momentary assessment and intervention studies. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 9(11), e22890. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/22890</u>
- de Geus, E. J., & Gevonden, M. J. (2023). Acquisition and analysis of ambulatory autonomic nervous system data. In M. R. Mehl, M. Eid, C. Wrzus, G. M. Harari, & U.

W. Ebner-Priemer (Eds.), *Mobile Sensing in Psychology: Methods and Applications* (pp. 129–167). Guilford Press.

- Di Leo, G., & Sardanelli, F. (2020). Statistical significance: p value, 0.05 threshold, and applications to radiomics—reasons for a conservative approach. *European Radiology Experimental*, 4(1), 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41747-020-0145-y</u>
- Empatica (2023). Empatica actigraphy: The new standard to measure sleep and physical activity. <u>https://www.empatica.com/blog/empatica-actigraphy-the-new-standard-to-measure-sleep-and-physical-activity.html</u>
- Feng, H., Golshan, H. M., & Mahoor, M. H. (2018). A wavelet-based approach to emotion classification using EDA signals. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 112, 77–86.
- Fernández-Aguilar, L., Latorre, J. M., Martínez-Rodrigo, A., Moncho-Bogani, J. V., Ros, L., Latorre, P., Ricarte, J. J. & Fernández-Caballero, A. (2020). Differences between young and older adults in physiological and subjective responses to emotion induction using films. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 14548
- Föll, S., Maritsch, M., Spinola, F., Mishra, V., Barata, F., Kowatsch, T., Fleisch, E., & Wortmann, F. (2021). FLIRT: A feature generation toolkit for wearable data. *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, *212*, 106461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2021.106461
- Foster, S., Estévez-Lamorte, N., Walitza, S., & Mohler-Kuo, M. (2023). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on young adults' mental health in Switzerland: A longitudinal cohort study from 2018 to 2021. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(3), 2598.
- Ganapathy, N., Veeranki, Y. R., Kumar, H., & Swaminathan, R. (2021). Emotion recognition using electrodermal activity signals and multiscale deep convolutional neural network. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 45(4), 49.
- Gross, T., & Malzhacker, T. (2023). The experience sampling method and its tools: a review for developers, study administrators, and participants. *Proceedings of the ACM on human-computer interaction*, 7, 1–29. Association for Computing Machinery. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3593234</u>
- Hasselhorn, K., Ottenstein, C., & Lischetzke, T. (2021). The effects of assessment intensity on participant burden, compliance, within-person variance, and within-person

relationships in ambulatory assessment. *Behavior Research Methods*, *54*, 1541–1558. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-021-01683-6

- Hernandez, J., McDuff, D., Infante, C., Maes, P., Quigley, K., & Picard, R. (2016, September). Wearable ESM: Differences in the experience sampling method across wearable devices. *Proceedings of the 18th international conference on human-computer interaction with mobile devices and services*, New York, NY (pp. 195–205). Association for Computing Machinery.
- Heshmati, S., Kibrislioglu Uysal, N., Kim, S. H., Oravecz, Z., & Donaldson, S. I. (2023). Momentary PERMA: An adapted measurement tool for studying well-being in daily life. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 24(8), 2441-2472.
- Horvers, A., Tombeng, N., Bosse, T., Lazonder, A. W., & Molenaar, I. (2021). Detecting emotions through electrodermal activity in learning contexts: A systematic review. Sensors, 21(23), 7869. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/s21237869</u>
- Institute of Medicine (US). (2004). Monitoring Metabolic Status: Predicting Decrements in Physiological and Cognitive Performance. National Academy Press
- James, W. (1884). What is an emotion? *Mind*, *9*(34),188–205 .https://doi.org/10.1093/mind/os-ix.34.188
- Jang, E. H., Byun, S., Park, M. S., & Sohn, J. H. (2019). Reliability of physiological responses induced by basic emotions: A pilot study. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 38, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40101-019-0209-y</u>
- Ji, L., Chow, S.-M., Schermerhorn, A. C., Jacobson, N. C., & Cummings, E. M. (2018). Handling Missing Data in the Modeling of Intensive Longitudinal Data. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 25(5), 715-736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2017.1417046</u>
- King, L. A., Hicks, J. A., Krull, J. L., & Del Gaiso, A. K. (2006). Positive affect and the experience of meaning in life. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 90(1), 179-196.
- Kraiss, J. T., Bohlmeijer, E. T., & Schotanus-Dijkstra, M. (2023). What Emotions to Encourage? The Role of High and Low Arousal Positive Emotions in Three Randomized Controlled Trials of Different Positive Psychology Interventions. *International Journal of Applied Positive Psychology*, 8(2), 257-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41042-023-00088-4

- Lacombe, A., Dumper, K., Lovett, M., Perlmutter, M., Spielman, R. M., & Jenkins, W. (2022). Cognition and Emotion. *Introduction to Psychology*.
- Larson, R., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1983). The experience sampling method. *New Directions* for Methodology of Social & Behavioral Science, 15, 41–56.
- Lee, K. Y., & Cerin, E. (2014). Standard errors. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of quality of life and well-being research* (pp. 6319–6320). Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-031-17299-1 2848
- Malmo, R. B. (1959). Activation: A neuropsychological dimension. *Psychological review*, 66(6), 367.
- Mao, R., Tweardy, M., Wegerich, S. W., Goergen, C. J., Wodicka, G. R., & Zhu, F. (2021).
   Motion artifact reduction in photoplethysmography for reliable signal selection.
   2021 43rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (pp. 5625–5630). IEEE.
- Mejía-Mejía, E., May, J. M., Elgendi, M., & Kyriacou, P. A. (2021). Differential effects of the blood pressure state on pulse rate variability and heart rate variability in critically ill patients. *NPJ Digital Medicine*, *4*(1), 82.
- Mohr, D. C., Zhang, M., & Schueller, S. M. (2017). Personal sensing: Understanding mental health using ubiquitous sensors and machine learning. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 13, 23-47.
- Montanari, A., Wang, L., Birenboim, A., & Chaix, B. (2024). Urban environment influences on stress, autonomic reactivity and circadian rhythm: protocol for an ambulatory study of mental health and sleep. Frontiers in Public Health, 12, 1175109. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1175109
- Motahari-Nezhad, H., Fgaier, M., Mahdi Abid, M., Péntek, M., Gulácsi, L., & Zrubka, Z. (2022). Digital Biomarker–Based Studies: Scoping Review of Systematic Reviews. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 10(10), e35722.
- m-Path. (2024). *m-Path Free tool for blended care by KU Leuven*. 2024. Retrieved June 7, 2024, from https://m-path.io/landing/
- Mucci, N., Giorgi, G., De Pasquale Ceratti, S., Fiz-Pérez, J., Mucci, F., & Arcangeli, G. (2016). Anxiety, Stress-Related Factors, and Blood Pressure in Young Adults. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01682</u>

- Nagai, Y., Critchley, H. D., Featherstone, E., Trimble, M. R., & Dolan, R. J. (2004). Activity in ventromedial prefrontal cortex covaries with sympathetic skin conductance level: A physiological account of a "default mode" of brain function. *Neuroimage*, 22(1), 243-251.
- Niven, K., & Miles, E. (2012). Affect arousal. In M.D. Gellmann (Ed.). *The encyclopedia of behavioral medicine* (pp.63-65). Springer Nature.
- Ostir, G. V., Berges, I. M., Markides, K. S., & Ottenbacher, K. J. (2006). Hypertension in Older Adults and the Role of Positive Emotions. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 68(5), 727-733. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.psy.0000234028.93346.38
- Overall, J. E., Tonidandel, S., & Starbuck, R. R. (2009). Last-observation-carried-forward (LOCF) and tests for difference in mean rates of change in controlled repeated measurements designs with dropouts. *Social Science Research*, 38(2), 492-503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2009.01.004</u>
- Pekrun, R., Elliot, A. J., & Maier, M. A. (2009). Achievement goals and achievement emotions: Testing a model of their joint relations with academic performance. *Journal* of Educational Psychology, 101(1), 115.
- Rosenberg, E. L. (1998). Levels of analysis and the organization of affect. *Review of General Psychology*, *2*(3), 247-270.
- Russell, J. A. (1980). A circumplex model of affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39(6), 1161–1178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0077714</u>
- Sabour, R. M., Benezeth, Y., Marzani, F., Nakamura, K., Gomez, R., & Yang, F. (2019). Emotional state classification using pulse rate variability. 2019 IEEE 4th International Conference on Signal and Image Processing, New York, NY (pp. 86-90). IEEE.
- Sahroni, A., Widiasmara, N., Miladiyah, I., & Setiawan, H. (2022). Short-term pulse rate variability to measure changes in emotion during trier social stress test. 2022 9th International Conference on Information Technology, Computer, and Electrical Engineering, Glasgow, Scotland (pp. 55–60). IEEE. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/</u> embc48229.2022.9871398
- Schwerdtfeger, A. R., & Gerteis, A. K. S. (2014). The manifold effects of positive affect on heart rate variability in everyday life: Distinguishing within-person and betweenperson associations. *Health Psychology*, 33(9), 1065-1073.

https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000079

- Stemmler, G., & Wacker, J. (2010). Personality, emotion, and individual differences in physiological responses. *Biological Psychology*, 84(3), 541–551. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2009.09.012</u>
- Stifter, C., & Augustine, M. (2019). Emotion regulation. In V. LoBue, K. Pérez-Edgar, & K.A. Buss (Eds.), *Handbook of emotional development* (pp. 405–430). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17332-6 16
- Tang, D., Kelley, N. J., Hicks, J. A., & Harmon-Jones, E. (2013). Emotions and meaning in life: A motivational perspective. In J. A. Hicks & C. Routledge (Eds.), *The experience* of meaning in life: Classical perspectives, emerging themes, and controversies (pp. 117–128). Springer.
- Tao, Q., Liu, S., Zhang, J., Jiang, J., Jin, Z., Huang, Y., Liu, X., Lin, S., Zeng, X., Li, X., Tao, G., & Chen, H. (2023). Clinical applications of smart wearable sensors. *iScience*,
- 26(9), 107485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2023.107485
- Twenge, J. M., Cooper, A. B., Joiner, T. E., Duffy, M. E., & Binau, S. G. (2019). Age, period, and cohort trends in mood disorder indicators and suicide-related outcomes in a nationally representative dataset, 2005–2017. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *128*(3), 185–199.
- Van Berkel, N., Ferreira, D., & Kostakos, V. (2017). The experience sampling method on mobile devices. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 50(6), 1-40.
- Vandenbroucke, J. P., von Elm, E., Altman, D. G., Gøtzsche, P. C., Mulrow, C. D., Pocock, S. J., Poole, C., Schlesselman, J. J., Egger, M., & STROBE Initiative (2007).
  Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE):
  Explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Medicine*, 4(10), e297. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040297
- Wibawa, A. D., Hakim, L., Widyanti, A., Muslim, K., Wijayanto, T., Trapsilawati, F., & Arini, H. M. (2019). Physiological pattern of emotion in elderly based on pulse rate variability features: A preliminary study of e-health monitoring system. 2009 6th International Conference on Instrumentation, Control, and Automation, Bandung, Indonesia (pp. 121–126). IEEE.
- Xie, C., Wang, Z., Yang, C., Liu, J., & Liang, H. (2024). Machine Learning for Detecting Atrial Fibrillation from ECGs: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Reviews in Cardiovascular Medicine*, 25(1), 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.31083/j.rcm2501008</u>

- Yearick, K. A. (2017). Experience sampling methods (ESM) in organizations: A review [Doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign]. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2142/97635</u>
- Yoon, S., Dang, V., Mertz, J., & Rottenberg, J. (2018). Are attitudes towards emotions associated with depression? A conceptual and meta-analytic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 232, 329–340.
- Yuda, E., Shibata, M., Ogata, Y., Ueda, N., Yambe, T., Yoshizawa, M., & Hayano, J. (2020). Pulse rate variability: A new biomarker, not a surrogate for heart rate variability. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 39(1), 1-4.
- Yuda, E., Yamamoto, K., Yoshida, Y., & Hayano, J. (2020). Differences in pulse rate variability with measurement site. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 39, 1-6.
- Zhou, K., Schinle, M., & Stork, W. (2023). Dimensional emotion recognition from camerabased PRV features. *Methods*, 218, 224-232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2023.08.014

During the preparation of this work the author(s) used ChatGPT in order to correct grammar/spelling, summarise and get an overview. After using this tool/service, the author(s) reviewed and edited the content as needed and take(s) full responsibility for the content of the work.

## Appendices

# **Appendix A**

This was provided in a digital format in the mPath application

Consent Form for BioMean-Digital Biomarkers of Meaning in Everyday Life

Researchers: Carolina Annabell Klingebiel (s2704161), Leonie Döhrmann(s2682818), Sophie Spierenburg(s2664682)

# Introduction:

You are invited to participate in a research bachelor thesis study exploring the use of digital biomarkers for exploring the connection to the variables of positive and negative affect, self-esteem and meaning in life. Before you decide whether to participate, it is important that you understand the purpose, procedures and potential risks.

# Study Purpose:

The purpose of this study is to investigate the meaning of digital biomarkers in everyday life. In particular, the variables of positive and negative affect, self-esteem and meaning in life will be assessed through daily questionnaires and correlated with the assessment of the biomarkers. The examination of these relationships allows for a deeper understanding of the role of digital biomarkers in everyday human experience and provides valuable insights into the dynamics between psychological states and biological markers.

# **Duration:**

Your participation in this study is expected to last eight days.

# **Procedures:**

If you agree to participate, you will be asked to wear the Embrace Plus watch which measures physiological and behavioural parameters. In detail the watch will measure:

- Blood Oxygen Saturation (SpO2)
- Sleep Detection
- Electrodermal Activity (EDA)
  - Skin Conductance Level (SCL)

- Temperature
- Pulse Rate
- *Respiratory Rate*
- Pulse Rate Variability
- Wearing Detection
- Actigraphy Measures:
  - 6*MWT*
  - Advanced Gait Analysis
  - Raw 3-axis Accelerometer Data
  - Wearing Detection
  - Sleep Detection
  - Activity Counts
  - Energy Expenditure
  - Body Position

No harms are expected from this experiment and participants can contact the researchers in case of expected side effects or questions (contact information are listed below).

# Please tick the appropriate boxes

# Taking part in the study

I have read and understood the study information dated [08/04/2024], or it has been read  $\Box$  to me. I have been able to ask questions about the study and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction.

I consent voluntarily to be a participant in this study and understand that I can refuse to  $\Box$  answer questions and I can withdraw from the study at any time, without having to give a reason.

I understand that taking part in the study involves wearing the Embrace Plus watch all  $\Box$  day (except when being in the water) and filling in a questionnaire once a day.

# Yes No

## Use of the information in the study

I understand that information I provide will be used for a bachelor thesis...  $\Box$   $\Box$ 

I understand that personal information collected about me that can identify me, such as  $\Box \Box$  [e.g. my name or where I live], will not be shared beyond the study team.

### Future use and reuse of the information by others

The data will be anonymised. If future publications utilise this study's data only groups estimates (e.g., mean, median, standard deviations, max, min, etc) will be reported. By clicking this box, I give permission for the questionnaire data and biomarker data that I provide to be archived in the UT data storage so it can be used for future research and learning.

## Signature

I understand what taking part in this study will involve. I agree to take part  $\Box$  in this study

 Study contact details for further information:

 Sophie Spierenburg, s.c.spierenburg@student.utwente.nl

 Carolina Annabell Klingebiel, c.a.klingebiel@student.utwente.nl

 Leonie Döhrmann, l.dohrmann@student.utwente.nl

 Contact Information for Questions about Your Rights as a Research Participant

 If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, or wish to obtain

 information, ask questions, or discuss any concerns about this study with someone other

 than the researcher(s), please contact the Secretary of the Ethics Committee/domain

 Humanities & Social Sciences of the Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social

 Sciences at the University of Twente by ethicscommittee-hss@utwente.nl

# **Appendix B**

#### **Manual for Participants**

Everything you require to participate in this research should be covered in this manual. Take your time going over everything, and don't hesitate to get in touch with the researchers if you have any questions, are experiencing technical problems or if you want to withdraw from the study:

Sophie Spierenburg, <u>s.c.spierenburg@student.utwente.nl</u> Carolina Annabell Klingebiel, <u>c.a.klingebiel@student.utwente.nl</u> Leonie Döhrmann, <u>l.dohrmann@student.utwente.nl</u>

### What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of this study is to investigate the meaning of digital biomarkers in everyday life. In particular, the variables of positive and negative affect, self-esteem and meaning in life will be assessed through daily questionnaires and correlated with the assessment of the biomarkers. The examination of these relationships allows for a deeper understanding of the role of digital biomarkers in everyday human experience and provides valuable insights into the dynamics between psychological states and biological markers.

## What is to be expected during the research?

Every day for 7 days you will be asked to answer a questionnaire via the app *mPath* on your mobile phone. The daily questionnaire will appear every evening at 18-21.00. During these 7 days you will additionally be asked to wear the *EmbracePlus* watch day and night.

You will additionally be asked to download the *EmpaticaCareLab app f*or the upload of your watch's data. Ensure that your phone always has an internet and Bluetooth connection and ensure the watch is connected, which can be checked through the EmpaticaCareLab app, this will ensure a continuous synchronisation of data. When you are requested to set up an account using your email but prefer not to use your personal email, you have the option to utilize *Proton Email* service at no cost (link on

last page). This allows you to quickly establish a secure, anonymous, encrypted email account.

If you adhere to the protocol (wearing the watch for > 80% of the time and completing > 80% of daily diaries) you will go to a pool (of all participants of this study) where a 50-euro Amazon gift card will be raffled.

# How does *mPath* work?

MPath is a mobile application through which questions can be sent to you.

1. First you download the mPath app

2. You are then asked to provide a nickname (you do not have to provide your real name, to protect your privacy you can also provide numbers or an alias)

3. After accepting the terms, you can connect to our study through clicking on "Your practitioner" and then on the plus symbol, where you can then look for **@zcfp9** to add us as your practitioner.

4. Enable notifications for this app on your phone

5. For this study, you will be sent a consent form and a landing survey once at the start the study.

After these first steps you will receive a daily questionnaire between 18.00-21.00 (at the time you prefer in the landing survey) consisting of 18 items for 8 days. You can click on the notification or go to the app manually within this time frame. You will see "start the questionnaire" on the bottom of the page. We ask you to answer each question as truthfully as possible. Your answers are automatically and securely processed and stored in the researcher's dashboard.

## How does the *EmpaticaCareLab app* work?

The EmpaticaCareLap app is part of the monitoring system of the EmbracePlus. Through this application you as a participant can check if the data is synchronising and if you are wearing the watch correctly. Please, activate the Bluetooth function of your device to connect the app to the EmbracePlus wearable. Additionally, your wearing time, pulse rate and skin temperature are displayed in the app. The charge of the watch lasts approximately two days, so please recharge the wearable for about 1  $\frac{1}{2}$  hours, when necessary, with the included charger.

**Please do not** wear the EmbracePlus during showers and when swimming. It is advised against to use it in water (despite the IP67 certification).

If the EmbracePlus gets damaged at any point, please notify the researchers immediately, there will be no repercussions for you, but we are required to inform the lending institutions of its damage.

#### How does the EmbracePlus work?

The EmbracePlus is a smartwatch designed for continuous health monitoring. Place the EmbracePlus wristband top-down on a surface. Wrap the band around the wrist while making sure that the button is on the outside of your wrist. For reference look at the picture below. The EmbracePlus should be worn behind the knuckle. Make sure it is fixed and can't wriggle back and forth. Wear it on your non-dominant hand with a finger-width from your wrist bone. Check the underside if you want to make sure the wearable is recording, you should be able to see a green light.



# How can I be sure the EmbracePlus is correctly recording?

Look out for the following signs



#### CARE LAB APP

Open the application and check that:

- The background is teal;
- The Status card reads 'Care is running smoothly';



The Participant has the correct EmbracePlus. You can check this by looking at the serial number on the EmbracePlus, and comparing it to the serial number in the Settings menu of the Care Lab App



#### EMBRACEPLUS

Check the EmbracePlus and verify that:

- The display is light;
- The Empatica heart icon is visible;
- The sensor is on (there is a green light from the bottom of the device)

The Empatica heart icon tells you if the watch is connected to the app. If the watch is momentarily not connected to the app (no heart icon) the watch will upload the missing data when you are connected to the app again. Make sure your device with the Care Lab App has Bluetooth activated and is close to the EmbracePlus wearable.



# What does the *EmbracePlus* measure?

In detail the watch will measure:

- Blood Oxygen Saturation (SpO2)
- Sleep Detection
- Electrodermal Activity (EDA)
  - Skin Conductance Level (SCL)
- Temperature
- Pulse Rate
- Respiratory Rate
- Pulse Rate Variability
- Wearing Detection
- Actigraphy Measures:
  - 6MWT
  - Advanced Gait Analysis
  - Raw 3-axis Accelerometer Data
  - Wearing Detection
  - Sleep Detection
  - Activity Counts
  - Energy Expenditure
  - Body Position

# <u>Links:</u>

For more information about the applications and EmbracePlus:

EmbracePlus and EmpaticaCareLab: <u>https://www.empatica.com/en-gb/</u>

MPath: https://m-path.io/landing/

Proton E-mail free account: Proton Mail: Registrierung

# Appendix C

Landing Survey Items

Welcoming text (ethics approved, researchers, what the study is about, informed consent form (first page study description, duration, randomized price voucher send by email, second page consent-only can continue when boxes are checked))

# <u>Landing survey items:</u>

- 1. What is your gender Identity?
  - a. Male
  - b. Female
  - c. Other
- 2. How old are you?
- 3. What is your nationality?
  - a. Dutch
  - b. German
  - c. Other
- 4. What is your current occupation?
  - a. Student
  - b. Working
  - c. Student and working
  - d. other

5. What time in the day would be suitable for you to answer the daily survey?

# Appendix D

	m-Path	Watch
Participant	adherence (%)	adherence (%)
30	100	90.1
20	100	89.6
21	100	85.4
31	100	88.0
32	100	87.5
10	86	85.4
11	100	95.3
12	100	92.2
13	100	88.5
33	100	83.9
22	100	84.9
34	100	84.4
23	100	85.4
24	88	89.6
35	100	88.0
26	100	87.5
36	88	87.5
37	100	87.0
38	75	87.0
25	50	87.0
27	100	88.5
28	100	94.4
14	100	85.4
39	100	87.5
29	100	93.3
300	100	87.0
200	88	85.7
16	88	90.1

Total Adherence, Questionnaire Adherence and Watch Adherence

	m-Path	Watch
Participant	adherence (%)	adherence (%)
17	50	88.5
18	100	92.2
40	100	87.0
41	75	88.0
42	88	85.7
43	88	87.5
Overall adherence:	Total m-Path:	Total Watch: 87.88%
90.47%	93.06%	